### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: SC03-1653 Lower Tribunal No: 5D01-3851

> SHANNON NICHOLS, Petitioner,

> > vs.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, Respondent.

# APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Thomas P. Hockman, Esquire Donald D. Hockman, Esquire Law Offices of Hockman, Hockman & Hockman 2670 West Fairbanks Ave.,Winter Park, FL 32789 Tel(407) 647-3200 Fax(407) 647-3252 Florida Bar No: 0057710 Attorneys for Petitioner

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

# CONTENTS

TABI	LE OF	CITATIONS ii
PREF	FACE	vii
STA7	TEMEN	NT OF THE CASE AND FACTS viii
	JURIS	SDICTION viii
	NATU	URE OF THE CASE viii
	DISP	OSITION BELOW viii
	STAN	NDARD OF REVIEW ix
	COUI	RSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS ix

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction of this case is based on the question certified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal to be of great public importance in its opinion, filed June 13, 2003. (5DCA R. 36 - 59). This court has jurisdiction. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). As this is a question certified by a Court of Appeal, no jurisdictional briefs are permitted. Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(d).

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a civil case seeking benefits under an insurance policy.

#### DISPOSITION BELOW

Shannon Nichols lost after a two day trial in January 2000. Based on an offer of judgment filed in 1999, and the new ruling of <u>U.S. Security Ins. Co. v.</u> <u>Cahuasqui</u>, 760 So. 2d 1101 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), a final judgment for attorney's fees was entered against Shannon Nichols, but the trial court also certified a question as one of great public importance as to whether the offer of judgment applied to personal injury protection contracts. A stay was entered in the case pending the resolution of <u>Cahuasqui</u> before the Supreme Court. (R. 405) The Supreme Court found that review was improvidently granted and declined review in November of 2001<sup>1</sup>, and this appeal went forward. (R. 408 - 10). The Fifth District Court of Appeal found that the proposal for settlement did apply to PIP contracts, but certified the question to this Court with a slight rephrasing.

The Fifth District Court, answering a second point of the appeal which is not before this Court in the instant appeal, found that the particular proposal for settlement served by State Farm in this case was defective on its face and the decision below awarding fees against Shannon Nichols was reversed for that reason. Although the Fifth District's decision did not conflict with any other opinion, State Farm is attempting to have this court review that aspect of the appeal alone. This Court has already received State Farm's initial brief on that separate issue. That appeal was requested earlier in time than the instant appeal, and so it has a lower number.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is de novo for certified questions.

#### COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

A complaint for breach of contract was filed on November 27, 1997. (R. 1-

4). On February 2, 1999, State Farm served a proposal for settlement for \$250.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup><u>U.S. Security v. Cahuasqui</u>, 760 So. 2d 1101, 1102 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) rev. gr. 786 So.2d 1183 (Fla. 2001) rev. dismissed 796 So.2d 532 (Fla. 2001).

(R. 288-89) After a 2 day trial in January 2000, the jury decided Shannon Nichols unreasonably refused to attend State Farm's examination. (R. 263)

#### CASE BACKGROUND and STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Shannon Nichols was injured in a vehicle collision in September 1996. (R. 1-4). She was insured for PIP by State Farm. (R. 1 - 4). She received the total value of her car and policy limits of the tortfeasor's bodily injury policy, making her underinsured motorist coverage from State Farm available along with the PIP coverage. (R. 1- 4, 347). Shannon Nichols received chiropractic and orthopaedic treatment. (R. 8 - 12, 478). In December of 1999, State Farm contracted with DRS, Inc. to schedule Shannon Nichols to submit to an examination by Dr. Westergan, M.D.<sup>2</sup> (R. 472 - 73). The examination time was rescheduled by agreement. (R. 472 - 73, 478). The final date for the examination was to be January 20, 1997. (R. 474).

Shannon Nichols had been having lower abdominal pain over her right ovary area. (R. 487). Her ob-gyn doctor ordered an ultrasound to diagnose the pain. (R.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>F.S. 627.736(7)(a) Whenever the mental or physical condition of an injured person covered by personal injury protection is material to any claim that has been or may be made for past or future personal injury protection insurance benefits, such person shall, upon the request of an insurer, submit to mental or physical examination by a physician or physicians.

490 - 95). Shannon Nichols had previously had 3 abnormal pap smears. (R. 175 - 77). The ultrasound was scheduled for January 20, 1997, at 10:30, the same day as State Farm's examination. (R. 178). Shannon Nichols attended the ultrasound instead of her insurer's medical examination. (R. 183).

State Farm paid the ambulance, hospital, and prior medical and chiropractic bills, but due to the missed appointment with their medical examiner, State Farm refused to pay further PIP benefits for any further medical or chiropractic treatment, and Shannon Nichols sued in Orange county court. (R. 8 - 12, 120). State Farm served a Proposal for Settlement of \$250 to cover both benefits and attorneys fees in February 1999, about a year after the start of the case. (R. 288 -89). The existence of a contract and past properly submitted bills were stipulated to, as well as past bills submitted and not paid and interest to a total of about eleven hundred dollars. There was no controversy as to the amount of benefits if Shannon Nichols won her trial. Shannon Nichols lost after a 2 day trial, on the question of whether she unreasonably refused to attend the January 20, 1997 medical examination. (R. 263). State Farm moved for and was denied attorneys fees based on its proposal for settlement (R. 290 - 91). State Farm later moved for reconsideration based on the new Cahuasqui case which was granted. (R. 300 -330). A hearing was held on the amount of fees. (R. 382 - 404). Judgment was

entered against Shannon Nichols for \$23,199.00. (R. 374 -76). Collection proceedings were stayed pending resolution of <u>Cahuasqui</u> before the Supreme Court. (R. 405). When the Supreme Court decided that there was no actual conflict between the offer of judgment in <u>Cahuasqui</u> and the mandatory arbitration for doctor's bills in <u>Nationwide v. Pinnacle</u>, 753 So.2d 55 (Fla. 2000), the appeal on the certified question to the 5th District Court of Appeals went forward. (R. 406 - 07). The Fifth District Court accepted jurisdiction on January 8, 2002. (5DCA R. 7).

The question the county trial court certified was:

Are proposals for settlement served pursuant to section 768.79, Florida Statutes, and Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.442 in actions to recover personal injury protection benefits valid and enforceable or applicable to pip suits?

The Fifth District rephrased the question, removing the word "benefits," as:

May an insurer recover attorney's fees under rule 1.442, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, and section 768.79, Florida Statutes, in an action brought by its insured to recover under a personal injury protection policy?

and answered in the affirmative in its opinion, but certified the question to this

Court as a question of great public importance. Nichols v. State Farm Mutual

Automobile Insurance Company, 851 So. 2d 742 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). (5DCA R.

36-59). Judge Sawaya, in his 18 page dissent, rephrased the question to restore

the word benefits to accentuate the fact that a PIP suit is not a civil suit for damages at law.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered in the negative because:

The offer of judgment statute does not apply to PIP cases because there are already two specific statutes which control attorney's fees in PIP cases.

The offer of judgment statute does not trump the two specific statutes because it is a conditional statute that is subordinate to a statute above it in its chapter which states that if the offer of judgment statute conflicts with any other statute, that other statute will control.

The offer of judgment does not apply to PIP cases because it only applies to "any civil suit for damages." Although the rem is money, a PIP suit is a suit for benefits, not damages.

The offer of judgment does not apply to PIP because of these doctrines of statutory construction; including one statute specifically excludes all others, the specific statute controls over the general statute, and a statute in derogation of the common law must be strictly construed.

At first look, PIP is unconstitutional because it abolishes the age old

common law cause of action of tort for general damages. PIP was saved from being unconstitutional because the legislature provided a benefit in exchange for the loss of the tort right, the almost automatic payment of some medical bills and lost wages without the perils of a suit at law. Applying the offer of judgment to PIP cases denies the insured the benefit of the exchange of the right. When the uncertainties of a suit at law and the one-sided threat of financial ruin enter into the PIP scheme, the driver has lost the benefit of the exchange, and PIP remains unconstitutional.

The offer of judgment does not apply to PIP because of the public policy of PIP.

The Legislature has recognized that attorney's fees are a one way street and left this aspect of PIP alone, even while creating other new special advantages for PIP insurers over their customers. The legislature, in Senate Staff analysis, has stated that PIP fees are a one way street and that to make the offer of judgment apply to PIP raises the problem of unconstitutionality.

The <u>Cahuasqui</u> decision is incorrect.

#### ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered in the negative because the offer of judgment does not apply to PIP cases.

The certified question is

May an insurer recover attorney's fees under rule 1.442, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, and section 768.79, Florida Statutes, in an action by its insured to recover under a personal injury protection policy?

The offer of judgment does not apply to PIP suits because it would make

PIP unconstitutional. PIP is unconstitutional because it removes the right of tort from motorists. PIP only survives constitutional muster because of the benefits that are provided in the exchange of the right to sue in tort. <u>Lasky v. State Farm</u>.<sup>3</sup> If the offer of judgment was applied to PIP, the motorist would lose the benefit of the exchange, and PIP will remain unconstitutional.

But it is not even necessary to review the constitutionality of PIP, as the offer of judgment does not apply to PIP suits per statute, case law, and the public policy of the PIP statutes.

## I. THE OFFER OF JUDGMENT STATUTE DOES NOT APPLY TO PIP CASES BECAUSE IT CONFLICTS WITH THE PIP STATUTES.

The offer of judgment statute, which establishes a two way street for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>296 So. 2d 9 (Fla. 1974).

attorneys fees, conflicts with the one way street for attorneys fees established in

PIP suits. The offer of judgment statute itself says that it will always give

precedence to any other statute if there is conflict between them.

The first statute in the damages part of the negligence chapter provides the

conditions on the offer of judgment statute:

Chapter 768 Negligence, Part II, Damages §768.71 Applicability; conflicts.(1) Except as otherwise specifically provided, this part applies to any action for damages, whether in tort or in contract.
(2) This part applies only to causes of action arising on or after July 1, 1986, and does not apply to any cause of action arising before that date.
(3) *If a provision of this part is in conflict with any other provision of the Florida Statutes, such other provision shall apply*. (italics added)

The attorney's fee provision of the PIP statute, F.S. 627.736(8)<sup>1</sup> instructs

that the one way street provided for in first party insurance disputes, F.S.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>F.S. 627.736(8) Applicability of provision of regulating attorney's fees. – With respect to any dispute under the provisions of sects. 627.730 - 627.7405 between the insured and the insurer, the provisions of sect. 627.428 shall apply.

627.428<sup>2</sup>, will control. The one way street provides that when an insured sues their own insurance company successfully, their attorneys' fees will be paid. There is no provision for an insurance company to be paid its attorney's fees if it is successful.

The offer of judgment Statute, §768.79, provides:

(1) In any civil action for damages filed in the courts of this state, if a defendant files an offer of judgment which is not accepted by the plaintiff within 30 days, the defendant shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs and attorney's fees... if the judgment is one of no liability or the judgment obtained ... is at least 25 percent less than such offer....

The proposal for settlement statute conflicts with both F.S. 627.736(8) and

F.S. 627.428, in the chapter "Insurance Rates and Contracts." The instant case

was solely for benefits under the PIP insurance statute. There was no allegation of

negligence in the pleadings.

The No-Fault scheme is entirely contained in a package of laws passed in

1971.<sup>3</sup> No-Fault provides for fees for insureds against their own insurance

<sup>3</sup>F.S. 627.730 - 627.7405.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>627.428. Attorney's fee -

<sup>(1)</sup> Upon the rendition of a judgment or decree by any of the courts of this state against an insurer and in favor of any named or omnibus insured or the named beneficiary under a policy or contract executed by the insurer, the trial court or, in the event of an appeal in which the insured or beneficiary prevails, the appellate court shall adjudge or decree against the insurer and in favor of the insured or beneficiary a reasonable sum as fees or compensation for the insured's or beneficiary's attorney prosecuting the suit in which the recovery is had.

company in a single statute, F.S. 627.736(8). It refers to F.S. 627.428, which provides that attorney's fees are paid for an insured who successfully gets a judgment against their own insurance company. This is the "one way street" for attorney's fees.<sup>4</sup>

If interpretation of the statute is needed, it is not to be interpreted in a manner that would deem legislative action useless or meaningless.<sup>5</sup> If the offer of judgment statute in the negligence chapter is given the very expansive interpretation needed to trump both attorney's fee provisions in the insurance chapter, the PIP statute F.S. 627.736(8) which directs the reader to the one way street for first party actions of an insured against their own insurer becomes meaningless, the limiting statute F.S.768.71(3) in the Negligence chapter becomes meaningless in this context, the attorney's fees statute F.S. 627.428 becomes meaningless in practice, and the limiting phrase "for damages" in the offer of judgment statute is ignored.

A. Case law shows that the offer of judgment statute does not apply to PIP cases because of conflict between the statutes.

The limiting statute F.S. 768.71(3) prevented the offer of judgment from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Danis v. Ground Improvement Techniques, 645 So. 2d 420, 421 (Fla 1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Oruga Corp., Inc. v. AT&T Wireless of Florida, Inc., 712 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

applying to attorney's fees in <u>City of Live Oak v. Harris</u>.<sup>6</sup> Harris beat her offer of judgment against the city, and was awarded \$55,000 in attorney's fees, but the offer of judgment did not apply because it conflicted with the sovereign immunity statute that limited attorney's fees to only 25% of the judgment, and her attorney's fees award was reduced to about \$8,000. <u>Harris</u> 702 So. 2d at 277. The court recognized that this was not a fair result, because if the city had beaten its offer of judgment against her, there would be no limit to the amount of fees.

The power of the limiting statute to prevent the offer of judgment from winning a conflict was cited in <u>Beauvais v. Edell</u>, 760 So. 2d 262, 265 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) .n4: "We note that if sections 768.043 and 768.74 were in conflict section 768.043 would control. See § 768.71(3)."

No cases but <u>Cahuasqui</u> and its progeny have found that the limiting statute did not apply to competing fee provision. In <u>Barberena v. Gonzalez</u>, the court decided upon offset statutes that were in conflict due to the different time periods involved, that the specific offset statute (F.S. 627.7372) in the No-Fault law controls the more general offset statute (F.S. 768.76) in the Negligence chapter, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>City of Live Oak v. Harris, 702 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997).

that the limiting statute prevented the general offset statute from applying.<sup>7</sup>

B. The offer of judgment does not apply to PIP cases because a PIP case is not a civil suit for damages.

Judge Sawaya pointed out in his well reasoned dissent in the opinion below that inquiry into this case need go no further than the first phrase of the first sentence of the offer of judgment statute. The offer of judgment statute, F.S. 768.79, states as its initial words that it only applies "In any civil action for damages filed in the courts of this state,". A PIP suit is not a "civil action for damages." It seeks enforcement of the right to payment that was exchanged for the loss of the right to sue for damages. The amount of benefits due in a PIP suit is generally predetermined. The questions are generally only whether the medical treatment was "necessary, reasonable and related," or whether the insured unreasonably refused to attend an examination, or whether a bill was properly submitted. Although the rem is ultimately money benefits, the suit is more akin to an action in equity to determine rights only, not an action at law for which money damages must be determined. The sole question before the jury in the instant case was whether Shannon Nichols unreasonably refused to attend the medical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Barberena v. Gonzalez, 706 So. 2d 60, 61 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998) <u>citing</u> <u>Kirkland v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 655 So. 2d 106, 109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995).

examination. (R. 263). There was no question for the jury to determine money damages.

The statute limits the offer of judgment only to cases for damages:

768.71(1) Except as otherwise specifically provided, this part applies to any action for damages, whether in tort or in contract.

The dissent of Judge Sawaya in Nichols highlights the importance of reading the actual language of the offer of judgment statute by distinguishing the rem in his slightly altered version of the certified question, which restores the term "benefits" to accentuate the fact that a PIP suit is not a suit for damages. <u>Nichols v. State</u> <u>Farm Mutual</u>, 851 So. 2d 742, 747 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). The term "benefits" was in the original questions certified by the trial court.

### II. THE OFFER OF JUDGMENT DOES NOT APPLY TO PIP CASES BECAUSE OF THE DOCTRINES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.

Three doctrines of statutory construction apply here. The importance of the doctrines is explained in <u>Ruth v. Higgins</u>, which struck an offer of judgment out of

a PIP case shortly before the <u>Cahuasqui</u> decision.

The Florida Statues are written by many hands over many sessions with many policies in mind. Inevitably, in spite of the best efforts of the legislature, statutes can be passed that appear to conflict. This is the reason for rules of statutory construction. When confusion arises we are to be guided by such rules. So, even though the court does not see these statutes as conflicting, there is a rule of statutory construction, which resolve the matter with the same result. In apparent statutory conflicts, specific statutory provisions with narrow focus control over general statutory provisions with broad focus. *McKendry v. State*, 641 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1994). Fla. Stat. 768.79 is very broadly written and applies to "all civil actions." Fla Stat. 627.428 is much narrower as it applies on to PIP cases.

Ruth v. Higgins and Allstate Indemnity Co., 7 Fla. Weekly Supp. 270 (12th Cir. Jan 31, 2000).

A. The offer of judgment does not apply to PIP cases because of the doctrine of statutory construction of *inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*.

This doctrine states that the inclusion of one is the exclusion of another.<sup>8</sup>

This rule is recognized in Florida generally, and in PIP specifically.<sup>9</sup>

The reference of F.S. 627.736(8) to only one fee statute excludes other fee

statutes. The Florida Motor Vehicle No-Fault law was enacted as a complete

package of statutes.<sup>10</sup> Because, unlike most laws or statutory schemes, it included

one attorney's fee provision, it has excluded all others. If the statutory scheme is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Black's Law Dictionary 908 (4th ed., revised 1968).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Industrial Fire & Casualty Insurance Co. v. Kwechin, 447 So. 2d 1337 (Fla. 1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>F.S. 627.730 - 627.7405.

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