IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Case No.: SC03-1483

L.T.No.: 5D01-3851

Petitioner,

vs.

SHANNON NICHOLS,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

KENNETH P. HAZOURI Florida Bar Number 019800 de Beaubien, Knight, Simmons, Mantzaris & Neal, LLP 332 North Magnolia Avenue Post Office Box 87 Orlando, Florida 32802-0087 Telephone: (407) 422-2454 Facsimile: (407) 849-1845 Attorneys for Petitioner

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal. The 5th DCA's Opinion expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal on the same question of law.

The 5th DCA erred in reversing the award of attorneys' fees to State Farm. The Proposal's request for a release was not a "condition" governed by Rule 1.442(c)(2)(C) & (D). Instead, the request was a "mechanical and legally inconsequential means of effecting" the proposed settlement designed to promote the policy of proposals for settlement to bring a final end to litigation. Nichols' conclusion to the contrary, and the requirements for Proposals established by Nichols, are entirely inconsistent with the protocol and procedure parties generally follow when settling lawsuits. This inconsistency ensures that <u>Nichols</u> will substantially increase the amount of litigation relating to proposals for settlement, which directly contravenes their stated policy.⁵

The Court should avoid this unwanted and unnecessary result by holding that a request for a typical general release in a proposal for settlement is not a condition subject to the particularity requirements of Rule 1.442(c)(2)(C) & (D). In the rare case that a losing party raises a legitimate concern regarding a proposal for settlement's request for a release, the good-faith provision of § 768.79(7)(a) provides trial courts with an adequate mechanism for reviewing the issue and invalidating the proposal if appropriate. Moreover, using § 768.79(7)(a) in this fashion will not create any more litigation than envisioned by the Legislature.

Assuming *arguendo* that the Rule 1.442(c)(2)(C) & (D) apply to requests for general releases in proposals for settlement, State Farm's Proposal satisfies this Rule's particularity requirements. When all of its provisions are read together, the Proposal clearly requests for only a release of any PIP claims existing through the date of the release's execution. Thus, the Proposal placed Nichols on notice of what terms would settle the case and thereby allowed her to properly evaluate State Farm's Proposal.

⁵ In fact, <u>Nichols</u> has placed the validity of literally hundreds, if not thousands, of outstanding proposals for settlement in question.

Based on the foregoing, this Court should reverse the 5th DCA's ruling that State Farm's Proposal for Settlement was defective. In so doing, the Court should reinstate Final Judgment for attorneys' fees in favor of State Farm.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT HAS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER THIS APPEAL.

The Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over State Farm's appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), of the Florida Constitution because the portions of Nichols appealed by State Farm expressly and directly with the cases of Earnest & Stewart, Inc. v. Codina, 732 So.2d 364 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) and Bd. of Trustees of Florida Atlantic University v. Bowman, 853 So.2d 507 (Fla. 4^h DCA 2003). As explained more fully below, Nichols' application of the legal principals relating to a request for a release set forth in a proposal for settlement, and the conclusions derived therefrom, is in direct conflict, and cannot be reconciled, with Earnest or Bowman. Thus, the Court has conflict jurisdiction over the appeal. See, e.g., Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So.2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981).

II. THE 5TH DCA ERRED IN RULING THAT STATE FARM'S PROPOSAL WAS DEFECTIVE AND REVERSING THE AWARD OF ATTORNEYS' FEES TO STATE FARM.

The 5th DCA invalidated State Farm's Proposal based on its conclusion that the request for a release therein was a non-monetary condition that failed to satisfy the particularity requirements of Rule 1.442(c)(2)(C) & (D). This ruling is directly

contrary to the holding of <u>Earnest & Stewart, Inc. v. Codina</u>, 732 So.2d 364 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999), which held that the request for a dismissal and release contained in a proposal for settlement is not a "condition" that may invalidate it.

Earnest involved a lawsuit filed by a real-estate broker to recover a commission. Id. at 365. The defendants made separate offers of judgment in the amount of \$1,000.00 and \$100.00, both of which also requested mutual general releases and dismissals with prejudice. Id. at 366. After the trial court granted the summary judgment for the defendants, they moved to recover their attorneys' fees. Id. The trial court denied the defendants' claim for attorneys' fees upon concluding that the request for a release and dismissal was a condition not permitted under § 768.79 or the former Rule 1.442.⁶

On appeal, the court noted that the trial court had based its ruling on <u>Martin</u> <u>v. Brousseau</u>, 564 So.2d 240 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), which held that an offer of judgment's request for a release and dismissal rendered it invalid and unenforceable because such requests constitute unauthorized conditions. The court disagreed with <u>Martin</u>'s ruling based on the following reasoning:

> (N)one of the documents required in that case (Martin) [or this one] add or subtract anything from what would be the consequences of simply accepting the offer of settlement. <u>Properly viewed</u>, therefore, the dismissal and

⁶ Neither § 768.79 nor the version of Rule 1.442 in place prior to the 1996 amendments thereto included any provision for the allowance of non-monetary conditions in offers of judgment.

releases referred to in the offer were not "conditions" of the settlement, but rather mechanical and legally inconsequential means of effecting it. They thus should be regarded as mere surplusage, the existence of which should not affect substantial rights. We agree with Judge Glickstein's dissenting view in <u>Martin</u> that the "tail [of] additional documents [should not] wag the dog" of the rejected offer.

Id. at 366-367 (bracketed language in original; emphasis supplied). Based on this

reasoning, the court reversed the denial of attorneys' fees to the defendants. <u>Id.</u> at 367.

<u>Nichols</u> expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Earnest</u>. <u>Nichols</u> holds that the request for a release contained in State Farm's Proposal is a non-monetary condition subject to the particularity requirements of Rule 1.442(c)(2)(C) & (D). On the contrary, <u>Earnest</u> holds that a request for a release contained in an offer of judgment (now known as a proposal for settlement) is not a condition at all, but is instead a "mechanical and legally inconsequential means of effecting" a settlement. As such, <u>Nichols</u> and <u>Earnest</u> cannot be reconciled. For the reasons set forth below, the Court should resolve this conflict by adopting <u>Earnest</u> and disapproving the portions of <u>Nichols</u> that are contrary thereto.

Florida law establishes that a proposal for settlement is in the nature of a contract. <u>Jamieson v. Kurland</u>, 819 So.2d 267, 268 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002)(citing <u>BMW of North America, Inc. v. Krathen</u>, 471 So.2d 585, 587 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985,

<u>rev. den.</u>, 484 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1986)). Thus, an accepted proposal for settlement is essentially a binding settlement agreement and should be treated as such by parties and courts.

As correctly explained in <u>Earnest</u>, releases and dismissals are the "mechanical and legally inconsequential means" through which litigants effectuate settlement agreements on a daily basis. Moreover, parties nearly always first agree to the settlement terms then later draft documents memorializing them, including releases. In the drafting stage, the parties typically negotiate the terms of the release. If the parties cannot agree on such terms, one or both of them may move the court for resolution of the issue. Accordingly, every settlement agreement creates a potential need for judicial intervention. Most settlements are, however, finalized without court assistance. This is because once parties decide to settle, they generally want closure as quickly and inexpensively as possible.

Earnest is entirely consistent with the above protocol for, and practicalities of, settling lawsuits. Parties do not normally include proposed release language in settlement offers, and Earnest likewise does not require proposals for settlement to include such language. Accordingly, Earnest mandates resolution of any dispute over release language **after** acceptance of a proposal for settlement -- a time when parties have little incentive to engage in further litigation. In so doing, Earnest does not encourage any more litigation than would normally be expected to arise

out of a typical settlement agreement. Thus, <u>Earnest</u> promotes the primary policy of proposals for settlement, which is to bring an end to litigation through settlement. <u>See, e.g., Aspen v. Bayless</u>, 564 So.2d 1081, 1083 (Fla. 1990).

On the other hand, Nichols is entirely inconsistent with the standard protocol for, and practicalities of, settling lawsuits. While parties do not normally set forth proposed release language in settlement offers, Nichols requires parties to include such language in proposals for settlement.⁷ Accordingly, Nichols allows and invites a losing party to assert there is a problem with the release language that precluded acceptance of the proposal in an effort to avoid liability thereunder. Unlike a settling party seeking closure, a party facing liability on a proposal for settlement has every incentive to initiate litigation over release language. Contrary to Earnest, therefore, Nichols facilitates and encourages such litigation in a context where it is certain to occur -- proceedings to determine entitlement to attorneys' Thus, Nichols will necessarily increase fees under a proposal for settlement. litigation relating to proposals for settlement, which is directly contrary to their purpose. See supra Aspen.

⁷ Alternatively, a party serving a proposal for settlement can choose not to a request a release. Without a release, however, the party serving the proposal remains subject to a second lawsuit even after the proposal is accepted and satisfied. Such a result is entirely contrary to the policy behind proposals for settlement. <u>See supra Aspen</u>.

The reality of this unwanted result is vividly demonstrated by two very recent cases: <u>Bd. of Trustees of Florida Atlantic University v. Bowman</u>, 853 So.2d 507 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003) and <u>Hales v. Advanced Systems Design</u>, Inc., 2003 WL 22326983 (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 13, 2003). These cases clearly establish that the onslaught of proposal-for-settlement litigation certain to arise out of <u>Nichols</u> has already commenced and will rapidly expand unless the Court takes decisive action.

In <u>Bowman</u>, a group of college students sued their university claiming breach of an agreement to use diligent efforts in seeking accreditation for the physical-therapy program. <u>Id.</u> at 507. The university served separate proposals for settlement on each plaintiff offering to settle their claims for \$2,001.00. Each proposal required the plaintiffs to execute a "General Release," which was attached as an exhibit to the proposals. <u>Id.</u> at 508. The plaintiffs rejected the proposals. <u>Id.</u>

Following entry of judgment for the defendant, it moved to recover its attorneys' fees pursuant to the proposals. <u>Id.</u> at 509. The trial court denied the motion upon concluding that the language of the "General Release" attached to the proposals required the plaintiffs to release both claims and third parties not involved in the lawsuit. <u>Id.</u> As such, the issue on appeal was whether the terms of the General Release rendered the proposals unenforceable.

The defendant argued that the proposed General Release was simply in the nature of a release designed to terminate litigation, and, therefore, the trial court

should have enforced the proposals. <u>Id.</u> The appellate court agreed and reversed the trial court's denial of attorneys' fees to the defendant. <u>Id.</u> In so doing, the court determined that the disputed language in the proposal's General Release was consistent with the standard release litigants normally use to effectuate settlements.⁸ <u>Id.</u> Thus, the court rejected the plaintiffs' attempt to avoid liability for attorneys' fees by arguing that the General Release's terms invalidated the proposals. <u>Id.</u>

<u>Bowman</u> illuminates the problems that are certain to arise out of <u>Nichols</u>. Had the proposals in <u>Bowman</u> simply requested a general release without setting forth the actual release language, the plaintiffs could not have formulated a defense thereto by misconstruing the release language -- a ploy accepted by the trial court and exposed by the appellate court after both spent substantial time and resources analyzing the issue. Under <u>Nichols</u>, however, parties <u>must</u> set forth the proposed release language or risk invalidation of their proposals for settlement. Thus, <u>Nichols</u> facilitates and encourages the exact type of litigation seen in <u>Bowman</u>.

In <u>Hales</u>, a prevailing defendant served a proposal for settlement containing a summary of the release the plaintiff would have to execute upon acceptance of the proposal. <u>Hales</u>, 2003 WL 22326983 at 1. The court concluded that the proposed release required the plaintiff to release future claims even though this was

⁸ The <u>Bowman</u> court's reasoning on this issue is entirely consistent with <u>Earnest</u>.

not expressly stated in the summary. <u>Id.</u> Based on this reasoning, the appellate court invalidated the proposal upon concluding that the proposed release did not meet the particularity requirements of Rule 1.442(c)(2)(C).⁹ <u>Id.</u> Significantly, the court reached this conclusion even though the summary set forth release language that is in the nature of a standard general release. <u>Id.</u>

<u>Hales</u> demonstrates that even a hyper-technical attack on release language set forth in a proposal for settlement can successfully relieve a losing party from liability thereunder. This fact will only further encourage litigation over the release language that <u>Nichols</u> now requires to be included in proposals. Moreover, although <u>Hales</u> and <u>Bowman</u> involved substantially similar release language, the <u>Bowman</u> court enforced the proposal for settlement, while <u>Hales</u> invalidated it. This lack of clarity will "stoke the litigation fires" even more. <u>Nichols</u> enables and sanctions such litigation, and Florida's courts will expend substantial time and resources administering it.

In addition to increasing the amount of litigation related to proposals for settlement themselves, <u>Nichols</u> also decreases proposals' efficacy in bringing an early end to the underlying litigation, which is their primary objective. <u>See supra</u>

⁹ In reaching this conclusion, the court relied on <u>Zalis v. M.E.J. Rich Corp.</u>, 797 So.2d 1289 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), which held that releases requesting release of all future claims are incapable of complying with the particularity requirements of Rule 1.442(c). State Farm's Proposal, however, expressly stated the release would not include any future claims of Nichols.

Aspen. Proposals for settlement accomplish this objective by forcing a party served with one to make a realistic assessment of his or her claims or defenses when deciding whether to accept it. <u>See U.S. Security Ins. Co. v. Cahuasqui</u>, 760 So.2d 1101 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). The more courts establish technical defenses to proposals for settlements, the less parties will consider the merits of their lawsuit when served with them. Instead, parties will focus on whether they can avoid liability under the proposal for settlement even if they lose the case. <u>Nichols</u> directly promotes this type of analysis by opening a "Pandora's Box" of arguments in opposition to the enforceability of proposals for settlement. Thus, <u>Nichols</u> substantially reduces the chances of lawsuits being settled with acceptances of proposals for settlement.

Should this Court rule that requests for releases are not subject to the particularity requirements of Rule 1.442(c)(2)(C & (D), there will be no prejudice imposed on parties defending against liability under proposals for settlement. This is because the good-faith requirement of § 768.79(7)(a) provides courts with an adequate mechanism for addressing legitimate concerns regarding releases requested in proposals for settlement. Indeed, Nichols itself specifically recognizes this fact. See Nichols, 851 So.2d at 746, n.3. A proposal for settlement that genuinely requests a release so oppressive and prejudicial that it precludes

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